

## École Cedardale Parent Advisory Council Bylaws

### SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS

1.1 **Defined Terms.** The following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below:

- “Annual General Meeting”** A General Meeting of the PAC held once each year within ninety (90) days of the end of the then current Financial Year at which the Executive are elected and the financial statements for the Financial Year are approved;
- “Annual Report”** Each of the annual reports submitted as required by and in accordance with these Bylaws, which reports are intended to (a) provide an opportunity to review the goals and achievements of the specified Executive Member as well as the PAC as a whole, (b) provide a record of actions taken and (c) outline responsibilities for those persons considering acting as an Executive Member;
- “Code of Ethics”** The code of ethics attached hereto as Schedule “A” to these Bylaws;
- “Designated Bank”** A bank or financial institution registered under the *Bank Act* (Canada), as amended from time to time;
- “District”** School District No. 45;
- “DPAC”** The Parents organized in accordance with the *School Act* (BC) and operating as a district parents’ advisory council in the District, such council formally being known as the “West Vancouver District Parent Advisory Council”;
- “DPAC Representative”** The Executive Member responsible for communications and coordination of efforts between the PAC and the DPAC, as such term is defined and the role more particularly described in Sections 7.2 and 9.6, respectively, of these Bylaws;
- “Executive”** All of the Executive Members then holding office and collectively acting as a whole to carry on the business and further the interests of the PAC, as required by and in accordance with these Bylaws;

<b>“Executive Meeting”</b>	A meeting ordinarily attended by the Executive Members between General Meetings for the purposes of carrying on PAC business;
<b>“Executive Member”</b>	As defined in Section 5.2 of these Bylaws;
<b>“External Committee Representative”</b>	As defined in Section 7.6 of these Bylaws;
<b>“Family Relations Act (BC)”</b>	<i>Family Relations Act</i> (BC), as amended from time to time;
<b>“Financial Year”</b>	As defined in Section 11.1 of these Bylaws;
<b>“General Meeting”</b>	A meeting of the Membership, including an Annual General Meeting and a Special Meeting, all as more particularly described in Section 3 of these Bylaws;
<b>“guardian”</b>	The guardian of the person of the student or child within the meaning of the <i>Family Relations Act</i> (BC);
<b>“Member”</b>	Any Voting Member or Non-Voting Member;
<b>“Membership”</b>	The Ecole Cedardale Parents’ advisory Council which council is comprised of all of the Members;
<b>“Member-at-Large”</b>	As defined in Section 8.6 of these Bylaws; and <b>“Members-at-Large”</b> shall have a similar meaning.
<b>“Non-Voting Member”</b>	As defined in Section 2.2 of these Bylaws;
<b>“Ordinary Resolution”</b>	A resolution passed at a General Meeting by a simple majority of the votes cast (i.e., 50% plus 1) by the Voting Members present at such meeting, at which meeting quorum has been established;
<b>“PAC”</b>	The Ecole Cedardale Parents’ Advisory Council which council is comprised of all of the Members;
<b>“Parent”</b>	As defined in the <i>School Act</i> (BC), being: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>a. the guardian of the person of the student or child;</li> <li>b. the person legally entitled to custody of the student or child; or</li> <li>c. the person who usually has the care and control of the student or child;</li> </ul>

and for the purposes of these Bylaws, refers to a child or children enrolled in the School;

<b>“Representative”</b>	The SPC Representative or the DPAC Representative or an External Committee Representative, as the case may be and as the context may refer; and <b>“Representatives”</b> shall refer to all of the aforementioned representatives;
<b>“School”</b>	Ecole Cedardale;
<b>“School Act (BC)”</b>	The <i>School Act</i> (BC), as amended from time to time;
<b>“Signing Officer”</b>	As defined in Section 11.10 of these Bylaws;
<b>“Special Meeting”</b>	As defined in Section 3.6 of these Bylaws;
<b>“SPC”</b>	The school planning council established for the School as required by and in accordance with the <i>School Act</i> (BC);
<b>“SPC Representative”</b>	A representative from the PAC who is also a member of a the SPC for the School, as that term is defined and the role more particularly described in Sections 7.1 and 9.7, respectively, of these Bylaws, respectively;
<b>“Special Resolution”</b>	A resolution passed at a General Meeting by a majority of not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the votes cast by Members who are present, at which meeting a quorum has been established;
<b>“Voting Member”</b>	As defined in Section 2.1 of these Bylaws.

**1.2 Plural and Gender; Headings.** Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and *vice versa* and words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender and neuter. The headings contained herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the meanings or interpretation hereof.

## SECTION 2 - MEMBERSHIP

**2.1 Voting Members.** Each Parent of one or more students enrolled in the School is a member of the PAC and entitled to a vote on any matter to be decided upon by the PAC (a **“Voting Member”**).

**2.2 Non-Voting Members.** The following persons may be invited by the PAC to become a member of the PAC but are not entitled to vote on any matters to be decided upon by the PAC (a **“Non-Voting Member”**):

- (a) administrators and staff, teaching and non-teaching, of the School; and

- (b) members of the school community who are not Parents of students enrolled in the public school system;

*provided that* at no time shall the PAC have more Non-Voting Members than Voting Members.

2.3 **Compliance with Bylaws.** Every Member shall uphold the PAC's constitution and comply with these Bylaws.

2.4 **Responsibility of Members.** Members of the PAC are encouraged to:

- (a) attend as many General Meetings as possible;
- (b) become knowledgeable about the educational programs and resources of the School;
- (c) promote positive attitudes about the School and its educational programs and services; and
- (d) support the PAC's purposes and objectives.

### SECTION 3 - MEETINGS OF MEMBERSHIP

3.1 **Number of General Meetings.** A General Meeting shall be held not less than five (5) times during the school year, one of which such meetings to be constituted as an Annual General Meeting.

3.2 **Conduct of General Meeting.** General Meetings shall be conducted efficiently and with fairness to all Members. Members at General Meetings shall refrain from discussing (a) individual school personnel, students, Parents and other members of the school community as well as (b) partisan political action and other activities that do not serve the interests of the School or the public school system. The Chairperson shall convene and preside at General Meetings.

3.3 **Notice of General Meetings.** The Chairperson shall cause reasonable notice to be given to the Members of the date of any General Meeting, which notice may be provided by way of e-mail, printed flyer, school newsletter or website posting *provided that* if by e-mail or website posting, a hardcopy of such notice will also be posted in a conspicuous place in the School or otherwise made generally accessible to Members who do not have electronic access. In addition and without limiting the foregoing, a calendar of meetings for the school year also satisfies the requirement for reasonable notice *provided that* such calendar has been made generally accessible to Members who do not have electronic access. The period of time constituting reasonable notice shall not

be less than seven (7) days, except in case of urgency as determined by the Chairperson.

- 3.4 **Lack of Notice.** The inadvertent omission to give notice of a General Meeting (including for purposes of greater certainty, an Annual General Meeting or Special Meeting), or a Parent's failure to receive notice of a General Meeting does not invalidate proceedings at such meeting.
- 3.5 **Annual General Meeting.** There shall be an Annual General Meeting for the purpose of (a) electing Executive members to the Executive and Members-at-Large and (b) approving year-end financial statements within ninety (90) days of the end of the Financial Year, together with any other PAC business as may then be appropriate.
- 3.6 **Special Meeting.** At the written request of at least ten percent (10%) of the total number of Voting Members, which request shall contain the reasons for the requested General Meeting, the Chairperson shall call a special General Meeting (a "**Special Meeting**") for a date that is on or before fourteen (14) days from the date of receipt of the request.
- 3.7 **Notice of Special Meeting.** The Chairperson shall cause notice of a Special Meeting to all Parents and the School Principal at least seven (7) days before the date of the Special Meeting, except in the case of urgency as determined by the Chairperson, and shall contain a statement of the general nature of the business to be addressed at the Special Meeting.

#### SECTION 4 - PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

- 4.1 **Quorum.** A quorum for a General Meeting shall be such number that is equal to the lesser of (a) fifteen (15) and (b) ten percent (10%), rounding any partial number up, of the total number of students enrolled in the School, being the requisite number of Voting Members required to be present at the time of any proposed vote respecting PAC business. Such quorum cannot be waived or suspended, even by unanimous consent. Two (2) of such Voting Members shall be Members other than Executive Members.
- 4.2 **Simple Majority.** Except as may be specifically provided elsewhere in these Bylaws, all matters requiring a vote at a General Meeting shall be decided by a simple majority pursuant to an Ordinary Resolution.
- 4.3 **Tie Vote.** In the case of a tie vote, the Chairperson does not have a second or casting vote and the motion subject to the vote is accordingly defeated.
- 4.4 **No Proxy Vote.** Voting Members shall vote in person on all matters to be decided at a General Meeting. Voting by proxy is not permitted.

- 4.5 **Manner of Vote.** Except as provided elsewhere in these Bylaws, voting is by a show of hands or, where requested and at the discretion of (a) the Chairperson alone or alternatively, (b) two (2) other Voting Members present, by secret ballot.
- 4.6 **Destruction of Ballots.** After each vote by secret ballot, a vote shall be taken to destroy the ballots.
- 4.7 **Vote Postponement.** The Chairperson may postpone a vote for one (1) meeting to allow additional participation of Members.
- 4.8 **Robert's Rules of Order.** Robert's Rules of Order shall apply to any procedural issues that arise and are not otherwise governed by these Bylaws, or the prevailing provisions of the *School Act* (BC) or other relevant statutory authority.

## SECTION 5 - EXECUTIVE

- 5.1 **Responsibilities of Executive.** The Executive shall manage the PAC's business and affairs between General Meetings.
- 5.2 **Executive Offices.** The executive offices of the PAC are comprised of the following: the Chairperson, the Immediate Past-Chairperson (save for the first year of the PAC), the Treasurer, the Secretary and the DPAC Representative as well as any such other offices as the Members may agree upon by a vote duly held at a General Meeting, including without limitation, such other offices as the SPC Representative, Vice-Chairperson, Vice-Treasurer and Communications Coordinator. Each person holding such executive office shall be referred to as an "**Executive Member**".
- 5.3 **Eligibility.** Any Voting Member is eligible to serve on the Executive as an Executive Member, save for employees or elected officials of a board of school trustees constituted under the *School Act* (BC) (or a former Act) or the BC Ministry of Education.
- 5.4 **Election and Number of Executive Members.** The Executive Members shall be elected annually at each Annual General Meeting. There shall be elected at least two (2) Executive Members to carry on business for and on behalf of the PAC.
- 5.5 **Term of Office.** The Executive Members shall hold office for a term of one (1) year beginning immediately following the election (or between specified dates, for example, from July 1<sup>st</sup> to June 30<sup>th</sup>). No person may hold the same Executive Office for more than three (3) consecutive years. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Immediate Past Chairperson shall hold office for one (1) year.
- 5.6 **Vacancy.** If an Executive Member resigns or otherwise ceases to hold office for any other reason, the PAC may elect an eligible member of the PAC to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term all in accordance with this Section 5. If for some reason, the

PAC fails to so elect, the remaining Executive Members may appoint an eligible Member to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term.

- 5.7 **Removal of Executive.** The Members may, by a Special Resolution, remove an Executive Member before expiration of her or his term of office, and may elect an eligible Member to complete the term. Written notice specifying the intention to make a motion to remove the Executive Member shall be given to all Members not less than fourteen (14) days in advance of the date of the General Meeting at which the vote is intended to take place.
- 5.8 **Remuneration of Executive Members.** No Executive Member shall be remunerated for serving on the Executive. Each Executive Member may, however, be reimbursed for expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred while engaged in the business of the PAC.

## SECTION 6 - EXECUTIVE MEETINGS

- 6.1 **Executive Meetings.** The Chairperson shall convene and preside at Executive Meetings. At least one (1) meeting shall be held before each General Meeting. Executive Meetings shall be conducted at any time or place as the Executive shall determine.
- 6.2 **Quorum.** Quorum for an Executive Meeting shall be three (3) Executive Members, *provided that* if there are only two (2) Executive Members then holding office (such that all other offices are vacant), quorum shall be two (2) Executive Members. Such quorum cannot be waived or suspended, even by unanimous consent.
- 6.3 **Notice.** Executive Members shall be given reasonable notice of the date of any Executive Meeting, which notice may be provide by way of e-mail, telephone communication, flyer, newsletter or website posting. In addition and without limiting the foregoing, a calendar of Executive Meetings for the school year also satisfies the requirement for reasonable notice.
- 6.4 **Simple Majority.** Except as may be specifically provided elsewhere in these Bylaws, all matters requiring a vote at an Executive Meeting shall be decided by a simple majority pursuant to an Ordinary Resolution.
- 6.5 **Tie Vote.** In the case of a tie vote, the Chairperson does not have a second or casting vote and the motion subject to the vote is accordingly defeated.
- 6.6 **No Proxy Vote.** Executive Members shall vote in person on all matters to be decided at a General Meeting. Voting by proxy is not permitted.
- 6.7 **Manner of Vote.** Except as provided elsewhere in these Bylaws, voting is by a show of hands or, where requested and at the discretion of the Chairperson alone or alternatively, by two (2) other Executive Members, by secret ballot.

- 6.8 **Destruction of Ballots.** After each vote by secret ballot, a vote shall be taken to destroy the ballots.
- 6.9 **Vote Postponement.** The Chairperson may postpone a vote for one (1) meeting to allow additional participation of Members.
- 6.10 **Robert's Rules of Order.** Robert's Rules of Order shall apply to any procedural issues that arise and are not otherwise governed by these Bylaws, or the prevailing provisions of the *School Act* (BC) or other relevant statutory authority.

#### SECTION 7 - PAC REPRESENTATIVES TO EXTERNAL ORGANIZATIONS

- 7.1 **Representatives to the School Planning Council.** Three (3) representatives to the SPC shall be elected annually by the PAC from among the Voting Members who are not employees or elected officials of a board of school trustees constituted under the *School Act* (BC) (or a former Act) or the BC Ministry of Education (collectively, "**SPC Representatives**") and individually a "**SPC Representative**"). One (1) of such SPC Representatives shall be an Executive Member on the Executive. If none of such SPC Representatives is concurrently an Executive Office, an additional executive office specifically entitled "SPC Representative" shall be established (by the PAC and in accordance with these Bylaws) and one of the elected three (3) shall be elected to such office as an Executive Member.
- 7.2 **Representative to the District Parents' Advisory Council.** One (1) representative to the DPAC may be elected annually by the PAC from among the Voting Members who are not employees or elected officials of a board of school trustees constituted under the *School Act* (BC) (or a former Act) or the BC Ministry of Education (a "**DPAC Representative**").
- 7.3 **SPC and DPAC Representatives.** The respective election of a representative to the SPC and DPAC shall be made by secret ballot.
- 7.4 **Term of Office.** The SPC Representative and DPAC Representative shall hold office for a term of one (1) year.
- 7.5 **Vacancy.** If an SPC Representative or DPAC Representative resigns or ceases to hold office for any other reason, the PAC may elect an eligible member of the PAC to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term all in accordance with this Section 7.
- 7.6 **Representatives to Other External Committees and Organizations.** Should the Members or the Executive deem appropriate, the Membership or Executive, as the case may be, may elect or appoint a Member to act as a representative of the PAC, provided such Member is not an employee or elected official of a board of school trustees constituted under the *School Act* (BC) (or a former Act) or the BC Ministry of Education.

Such elected or appointed Member shall represent the PAC on any designated committee or organization external to the PAC. The representative shall report to the Membership or Executive as required by the Membership or Executive, as the case may be. Such Member so acting shall be herein referred to as an “**External Committee Representative**”.

- 7.7 **Remuneration of Representatives.** No Representative shall be remunerated for representing the PAC. Each Representative may, however, be reimbursed for expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred while engaged in the business of the PAC.

## SECTION 8 - COMMITTEES AND MEMBERS-AT-LARGE

- 8.1 **Striking of Committees.** The Membership or Executive may strike one (1) or more committees internal to the PAC to further the PAC’s purposes and carry on its affairs.
- 8.2 **Responsibilities.** The terms of reference of each committee shall be specified by the Membership or Executive at the time the committee is established, or by the committee at its first meeting, as the Membership or Executive decide. The Committees shall report to the Membership and Executive as required.
- 8.3 **Nominating Committee.** A Nominating Committee shall be appointed annually before the Annual General Meeting.
- 8.4 **Standing Committees.** A standing committee may be created to exist every year and may, but need not be, described in these Bylaws. Examples of possible standing committees include, but are not limited to, the following: budget committees, nominating committees, hot lunch committees and fundraising committees.
- 8.5 **Ad Hoc Committees.** An *ad hoc* committee is created to do a specific task within a certain time period.
- 8.6 **Members-at-Large.** At a General Meeting the Membership can elect, for each separate matter of interest, a Member to serve in a capacity then thought beneficial and expedient and for a term (not more than one (1) year) to be determined and specified by the Membership (a “**Member-at-Large**”). No Member-at-Large shall be an employee or elected official of a board of school trustees constituted under the *School Act* (BC) (or a former Act) or the BC Ministry of Education. In the event that a Member-at-Large resigns or otherwise ceases to hold office for any other reason, the Membership may elect another eligible Member to fill the vacancy for the balance of the term of office.
- 8.7 **Remuneration.** No committee member or Member-at-Large shall be remunerated for serving the PAC. Each such person may, however, be reimbursed for expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred while engaged in the business of the PAC.

## **SECTION 9 - RESPONSIBILITIES OF EXECUTIVE AND REPRESENTATIVES**

### **9.1 Chairperson's Responsibilities. The Chairperson shall:**

- (a) speak on behalf of the Membership;
- (b) consult with the Membership;
- (c) convene and preside over General Meetings and Executive Meetings;
- (d) ensure that an agenda is prepared in respect of any General Meeting or Executive Meeting and in the course thereof, consult with such persons as the Chairperson may deem appropriate, including but not limited to, the Executive, the Membership, the School Principal and Superintendent or the Board liaison;
- (e) appoint committees where authorized by the Membership or the Executive, as the case may be;
- (f) ensure that the Membership is represented in School and District activities;
- (g) ensure that the Membership activities are intended to achieve the purposes set out in the Constitution;
- (h) act as a Signing Officer, if so appointed pursuant to Section 11.10;
- (i) submit an Annual Report.

### **9.2 Vice-Chairperson's Responsibilities. The Vice-Chairperson shall:**

- (a) assist the Chairperson in the performance of her/his responsibilities;
- (b) assume the responsibilities of the Chairperson in the Chairperson's absence or upon request;
- (c) accept extra responsibilities as required;
- (d) act as a Signing Officer, if so appointed pursuant to Section 11.10;
- (e) liaise with room parents on significant PAC matters;
- (f) prepare and present the slate of nominations for the Executive and Members-at-Large each Annual General Meeting;
- (g) submit an Annual Report.

### **9.3 Secretary's Responsibilities. The Secretary shall:**

- (a) ensure that Membership is duly notified of Member's Meetings;
- (b) record and file minutes of all meetings and ensure such minutes are made available electronically to the Membership;
- (c) keep an accurate copy of the Constitution and Bylaws, and make copies available to the Membership upon request;
- (d) ensure that any amendments duly made to the Constitution and By-Laws are dated and initialed and copies submitted, as required or otherwise then thought appropriate, to the offices of the School Principal, the District and DPAC, for their respective records;
- (e) maintain in a secure manner all administrative records of the Membership and create a repository of Membership records for successive Executive, which records include but are not limited to, minutes of General Meetings and Executive Meetings, newsletters, correspondence, survey results and committee reports;
- (f) prepare and maintain other documentation as requested pursuant to General Meetings or Executive Meetings;
- (g) issue and receive correspondence on behalf of the membership;
- (h) act as a Signing Officer, if so appointed pursuant to Section 11.10;
- (i) submit an Annual Report.

9.4 Treasurer's Responsibilities. The Treasurer shall:

- (a) act as a Signing Officer;
- (b) deposit or supervise the deposit of all funds collected on behalf of the Membership in an account at a Designated Bank;
- (c) ensure all funds of the Membership are properly accounted for;
- (d) disburse funds as authorized by the Membership or Executive;
- (e) ensure that proper financial records and books of account are maintained;
- (f) report on all receipts and disbursements at General Meetings and Executive Meetings;
- (g) make financial records and books of account available to any Member upon request;

- (h) make the financial records and books of account ready and available for inspection or audit annually;
- (i) with the assistance of the Executive, draft an annual budget and proposed plan of expenditures;
- (j) ensure that another Signing Officer has access to the financial records and books of account in the Treasurer's absence;
- (k) submit annual financial statements at the Annual General Meeting.

9.5 **Vice-Treasurer's Responsibilities.** Any Vice-Treasurer that is elected shall:

- (a) act as a Signing Officer;
- (b) assist the Treasurer in the performance of her/his responsibilities;
- (c) assume the responsibilities of the Treasurer in the Treasurer's absence or upon request;
- (d) assist the Treasurer in the performance of her or his responsibilities;
- (e) accept extra responsibilities as required.

9.6 **DPAC Representative's Responsibilities.** The DPAC Representative shall:

- (a) attend all meetings of the DPAC and represent, speak and vote on behalf of the PAC;
- (b) maintain current registration of the PAC;
- (c) report regularly to the Membership and the Executive on all matters relating to the DPAC;
- (d) seek and give input to the DPAC on behalf of the PAC;
- (e) receive, circulate and post DPAC newsletters, brochures and announcements;
- (f) receive and act on all other communications from the DPAC;
- (g) liaise with other parents and DPAC representatives;
- (h) submit an Annual Report.

9.7 **SPC Representative's Responsibilities.** The SPC Representative shall:

- (a) attend all meetings of the SPC;
  - (b) represent, speak and vote on behalf of the Membership at SPC meetings;
  - (c) request and take direction from the Membership and Executive;
  - (d) be an advocate for meaningful parent involvement in the School and in School planning initiatives;
  - (e) provide a written report to all General Meetings and Executive Meetings of relevant SPC matters;
  - (f) attend General Meetings and Executive Meetings as directed by the Membership or Executive;
  - (g) submit an Annual Report.
- 9.8 External Committee Representative's Responsibilities. Any External Committee Representative shall:
- (a) represent the Membership and report back to the Membership or the Executive, or both, as required by such representative's mandate;
  - (b) submit an Annual Report.
- 9.9 9.9 Immediate Past Chairperson's Responsibilities. The Immediate Past Chairperson shall:
- (a) advise and support the Membership and the Executive;
  - (b) provide information about resources, contacts and other matters as may be helpful in furthering the interests of the PAC;
  - (c) submit an Annual Report.
- 9.10 **Member-at-Large's Responsibilities.** Each Member-at-Large shall:
- (a) serve in a capacity to be determined by the PAC at the time of the election, and at other times as the PAC requires, acting reasonably;
  - (b) submit an Annual Report.

## **SECTION 10 - CONDUCT OF EXECUTIVE, REPRESENTATIVES, COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND MEMBERS-AT-LARGE**

- 10.1 **Code of Ethics.** On election or appointment, every Executive Member, Representative, committee member and Member-at-Large shall agree to abide by the Code of Ethics and shall sign a statement of understanding and undertaking in the form set out in Schedule "B" attached to these Bylaws. Disputes arising under the Code of Ethics shall be administered pursuant to the process set out in Schedule "C" attached to these Bylaws.
- 10.2 **Representing the PAC.** Every Executive Member, Representative, committee member and Member-at-Large shall act solely in the interests of the Membership.
- 10.3 **Privilege.** Any information received in confidence by an Executive Member, Representative, committee member and Member-at-Large from school personnel, a student, Parent or other member of the school community is privileged and shall not be divulged without permission of the person giving the information.
- 10.4 **Disclosure of Interest.** An Executive Member, Representative, committee member and Member-at-Large who is interested, either directly or indirectly, in a proposed contract or transaction with the Membership shall disclose fully and promptly the nature and extent of her or his interest to the Membership and the Executive. Such Executive Member, Representative, committee member and Member-at-Large shall avoid using her or his position for personal gain.

## **SECTION 11 - FINANCIAL MATTERS**

- 11.1 **Financial Year.** The financial year (the "**Financial Year**") of the Membership shall be the twelve (12) month period ending on June 30th of each calendar year.
- 11.2 **PAC Fundraising and Expenditures.** The Membership may raise and spend funds to further its purposes. All fundraising activity conducted under the auspices of the Membership shall be approved by the Executive in consultation with the School's Principal. Subject to Section 11.6 below, expenditures of Membership funds can only be made if authorized by a motion passed at a General Meeting.
- 11.3 **Budget Presentation.** The Executive shall draft and present for approval to the Membership at a General Meeting a budget and tentative plan of expenditures for the then upcoming Financial Year. Such budget shall be for a time period not extending more than one (1) Financial Year in which the then current Executive presides. Such budget shall usually, but not necessarily, be co-extensive with the entire duration of such Financial Year.
- 11.4 **Approval and Expenditure of Budget Items.** Membership approval at a General Meeting of a budget and proposed plan of expenditures gives the Executive authority to

make the transactions included in such approved budget without seeking any further approval of the Membership at any subsequent General Meeting.

- 11.5 **Approval and Expenditure of Non-Budget Items.** Subject to Section 11.6 below, the Executive shall present all proposed expenditures not contemplated in the then current approved budget and proposed plan of expenditures, for approval by the Membership at a subsequent General Meeting.
- 11.6 **Executive Approved Expenditures.** Without prior Membership approval, and when approved by at least three (3) Executive Members (or alternatively two (2) Executive Members if all other offices on the Executive are then currently vacant), the Executive may authorize expenditures made to further the interests of PAC business *provided that* such approved expenditures do not exceed Two Hundred Dollars (\$200), in the aggregate, in the then current Financial Year.
- 11.7 **Treasurer's Report.** A Treasurer's report shall be presented at each General Meeting, which report shall reflect the Treasurer's responsibilities set out in Section 9.4 of these Bylaws.
- 11.8 **Auditor.** The Membership may appoint an auditor at a General Meeting.
- 11.9 **Bank Accounts.** All funds of the Membership shall be kept on deposit in the name of the Membership in a Designated Bank.
- 11.10 **Signing Authority.** The Executive shall appoint, from amongst the Executive Members capable of acting as a signing officer pursuant to the capacity conferred on them by Section 9, persons authorized by such Executive appointment to sign, execute and deliver on behalf of the Membership, and thereby bind the Membership, to the terms of all banking and other legal documents ("**Signing Officers**"). Specifically, the Executive shall appoint at least three (3) members of the Executive to act as Signing Officers, the signatures of two (2) of such persons being required in respect of signature, execution and delivery of any and all banking and other legal documents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each of the Treasurer, any Vice-Treasurer and the Chairperson shall be appointed a Signing Officer.

## SECTION 12 - CONSTITUTION AND BYLAW AMENDMENTS

- 12.1 **Special Resolution Required.** Except as may otherwise be expressly provided in these Bylaws, the provisions of Constitution and Bylaws shall only be amended by the passing of a Special Resolution by the Members at a General Meeting.
- 12.2 **Notice.** Written notice specifying one (1) or more proposed amendments to the Constitution and/or the Bylaws shall be given to the Membership not less than fourteen (14) days before the General Meeting at which the vote will take place. Subject to Section 12.3 below, notice of General Meeting shall include a copy of the proposed

amendments. Notice may be provided by way of e-mail, printed flyer, school newsletter or website posting *provided that* if by e-mail or website, a hardcopy of such notice will also be posted in a conspicuous place in the School or otherwise made generally accessible to Members who do not have electronic access.

- 12.3 **Delivery of Notice.** Where the proposed amendment(s) exceed one (1) page and delivery is made by way of hardcopy, a copy of such amendment(s) need not be given to every Member, but shall instead be posted in a conspicuous place in the School or otherwise made generally accessible to all Members.
- 12.4 **Copies of Amendments.** Any amendments to the Constitution and By-Laws which are duly approved at a General Meeting shall be dated and initialed. Copies thereof shall be submitted, as required or then thought appropriate, to the offices of the School Principal, the District and DPAC, for their respective records.

#### SECTION 13 - PROPERTY IN DOCUMENTS

- 13.1 **Ownership & Delivery.** All documents, records, minutes, correspondence and other papers kept by any Member, including but not limited to an Executive Member, Representative, Member-at-Large or committee member in connection with PAC business shall be deemed to be property of the PAC and shall be turned over to the Chairperson when such Member ceases to perform the task to which the papers relate.

#### SECTION 14 - DISSOLUTION

- 14.1 **Delivery of any Remaining Funds.** Upon any winding up or dissolution of the PAC, and after payment of all debts and costs of winding up or dissolution, the assets and remaining funds of the PAC shall be distributed, subject to Section 14.3 hereof, to another parents' advisory council or councils in the District having purposes similar to those of the PAC, as the Members of the PAC may determine at the time of winding up or dissolution.
- 14.2 **Delivery of all Documents, Etc.** Upon any winding up or dissolution of the PAC, all documents, records, minutes, correspondence and other papers of the PAC shall be given to the School's Principal.
- 14.3 **Delivery of Gaming Funds.** Upon any winding up or dissolution of the PAC, all unused gaming funds and assets purchased with gaming funds shall be transferred to the BC Minister of Finance, or if those assets are not in a form that can easily be so transferred, then to another eligible organization within the Province of British Columbia.

Adopted by the Ecole Cedardale Parents' Advisory Council at West Vancouver, British Columbia, on May \_\_\_\_, 2019.

---

*Signature of Chairperson of Ecole  
Cedardale Parents' Advisory Council*

---

*Signature of Secretary of Ecole Cedardale  
Parents' Advisory Council*